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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Jose Colindres asks the Supreme Court to accept 

review of the Court of Appeals decision designated below. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Colindres requests review of the decision in State v. 

Jose Leonardo Colindres, Court of Appeals No. 84204-8-1 

(slip op. filed March 4, 2024). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. A prior inconsistent statement by the alleged 

victim's sister was admitted as impeachment evidence. 

That prior statement, if considered for its truth, lent critical 

weight to the State's case. Was defense counsel 

ineffective in failing to request a limiting instruction that 

would have ensured the jury could only consider the prior 

statement for its impeachment value, not for its truth as 

substantive evidence of guilt? 

2. The mother of the alleged victim testified for the 

defense. During cross examination, the prosecutor asked 
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how the mother felt about being raped as a child and then 

repeatedly asked if she were present where the alleged 

abuse of her child took place, ultimately unleashing an 

inflammatory question seeking confirmation that the mother 

was not present when Colindres put his penis in her 

daughter's vagina, which caused the mother to 

uncontrollably weep. Did the prosecutor commit prejudicial 

misconduct and did the trial court err in refusing to grant 

the defense motion for mistrial? 

3. The prosecutor argued to the jury that 

Colindres, when faced with the accusation, never called 

the police despite insisting that others do so. Did the 

prosecutor impermissibly use Colindres's prearrest 

silence as evidence of guilt, in violation of the Fifth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution or article I, 

section 9 of the Washington Constitution? 

4. Did the above combination of errors create an 

unfair trial under the cumulative error doctrine? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Jose Colindres went to trial on two charges of first 

degree child rape alleged to have been committed against 

his niece, N.C. CP 57-58. 

Charlene Caceres and Edwin Hernandez were 

married and had four children together, two daughters, 

N.C. and A.C., and two sons. RP 603-04. Colindres 

looked after the children while they lived at their father's 

home in Washington. RP 615-17, 639, 789-90, 1007-10, 

1171. The children's mother stayed in California. RP 1171. 

N.C. was 13 years old at the time of trial and 10 

years old at the time of the alleged incidents. RP 776, 778. 

N.C. claimed to remember an incident in which her uncle 

made her pull down her pants in the downstairs dining 

room when they were alone and then put his penis in her 

vagina. RP 800-02, 812, 816-18. Her dad was at work 

and her siblings were upstairs. RP 800-01. 
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N.C. claimed another incident took place in her 

bedroom. RP 822. Her uncle came in when she was 

sleeping, took her brothers out of the room, and pulled 

her pants down. RP 823. She and her sister were in the 

bottom bunkbed. RP 824. Her uncle got on top of her and 

put his penis in her vagina. RP 824-25. Her sister woke 

up, said stop making noise, then fell back asleep. RP 823, 

832. Her uncle left the room. RP 832. 

A defense interview took place in January 2022. RP 

864. In that interview, N.C. never mentioned sex in the 

bunkbed and told the interviewer there was nothing more 

that she wanted to talk about. RP 864-66, 892. 

N. C. 's sister, A. C. , was 11 years old at the time of 

trial. RP 686, 688. At trial, she talked about an incident 

where she saw her uncle get into her sister's bed - "he 

went on top of the ladders" - while her dad was at work 

and the brothers weren't in the room. RP 708, 715-16. 

She heard N.C. say stop. RP 718. A.C. initially testified 
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that she did not know if she saw her uncle's body. RP 718. 

After having her recollection refreshed with an interview 

transcript, she remembered she saw her uncle's body. RP 

719-20. He had his clothes on "in between. " RP 720. She 

saw his body moving up and down on top of N. C. , who 

was next to A.C. in bed. RP 721. A.C. could not see his 

privates. RP 722. When asked if she saw anything else 

happen to N. C. , A.C. answered "Mm, no." RP 722. 

A prior statement that she made to "the lady with 

the dog" was permitted for the purpose of impeachment. 

RP 723-24, 729-31. AC. told the lady that she saw her 

uncle pull his pants down and do his middle part (private) 

in N. C. 's butt. RP 732-33, 752. AC. did not know what 

was going on when she saw his "middle part. " RP 771. 

When asked in the defense interview if she actually saw 

something happening or assumed something was 

happening, AC. said she assumed. RP 765. 
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When N.C. was asked how many times something 

like this happened, she answered "Uh, I don't know, like, 

four?" RP 822. N. C. later testified she did not remember 

another time when something happened to her. RP 835. 

On redirect, the prosecution got her to agree that she told 

the lady with the dog that her uncle put his penis in her 

vagina four times. RP 873. 

On October 5, 2018, N. C. told her dad and his 

girlfriend what her uncle did to her. RP 838-39, 928. 

According to Hernandez and N. C. , Colindres said he was 

sorry upon being confronted. RP 626, 840. 

Colindres, testifying in his own defense, maintained 

he was shocked and angry when confronted with the 

accusation. RP 1111-12. Colindres denied apologizing. 

RP 1112-13, 1117. He kept telling them to call the cops if 

that's what they really believed. RP 1117-18. He denied 

having sex with N.C. RP 1118. 
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Charlene Caceres, the children's mother, testified 

for the defense. RP 1153. She understood there was a 

rape allegation against her brother. RP 1176. She had 

talked to her daughters about inappropriate touching 

before, as she had been molested and raped by an uncle 

when she was a child. RP 1215-16. The girls did not know 

anything about her rape. RP 1265. The prosecutor cross­

examined Caceres about being raped as a child and her 

absence when her own child was raped, reducing her to 

tears. RP 1265-72; CP 62. The court denied the defense 

motion for mistrial based on this questioning. RP 1287-88; 

CP 59-68; 1368-72. 

The jury acquitted Colindres on count 2 (dining 

room incident) and returned a guilty verdict on count 1 

(bedroom incident). CP 102-03; see RP 1311 (State's 

election in closing argument). The court imposed an 

indeterminate sentence of 120 months to life in prison. CP 

129. 
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Colindres raised multiple issues on appeal. The 

Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. Slip op. at 1. 

E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Counsel was ineffective in failing to secure 
a limiting instruction for critical testimony 
given by the complaining witness's sister. 

A.C.'s testimony that she said in a pre-trial interview 

that she saw Colindres raping her sister was admitted 

solely for the purpose of impeachment. RP 723-24, 729-

33. But the jury was never informed this prior statement 

could not be considered as substantive evidence against 

Colindres. Defense counsel's failure to request a limiting 

instruction for A.C.'s prior inconsistent statement was 

objectively unreasonable because the absence of such 

instruction permitted the jury to consider the damaging 

statement as substantive evidence against Colindres. 

Given the weaknesses in the State's case, there is a 

reasonable probability that the lack of a limiting instruction 
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affected the outcome. The conviction should be reversed 

due to ineffective assistance of counsel. 

A witness may be impeached with a prior out-of­

court statement of a material fact that is inconsistent with 

her testimony in court. State v. Dickenson, 48 Wn. App. 

457, 466, 740 P.2d 312, review denied, 109 Wn.2d 1001 

(1987); ER 607; ER 613. "[T]o the extent that a witness' 

own prior inconsistent statement is offered to cast doubt 

on his or her credibility, it is not offered to prove the truth 

of the matter asserted, it is nonhearsay, and it may be 

admissible 'to impeach."' State v. Williams, 79 Wn. App. 

21, 26,902 P.2d 1258 (1995). 

The court correctly permitted the State to elicit 

A.C.'s prior inconsistent statement to impeach her 

credibility under ER 613. The problem, though, is that the 

jury was never instructed to limit its consideration of the 

prior inconsistent statement to its impeachment value. 
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A jury may consider a prior inconsistent statement 

admitted to impeach a witness's testimony only for 

purposes of evaluating that witness's credibility and not as 

substantive proof of the underlying facts. State v. 

Johnson, 40 Wn. App. 371, 377, 699 P.2d 221 (1985). 

When such a statement is admitted, "an instruction 

cautioning the jury to limit its consideration of the 

statement to its intended purposes is both proper and 

necessary." ill 

But where no limiting instruction is sought and 

given, the jury may consider the prior inconsistent 

statements as substantive evidence. State v. Mccomas, 

186 Wn. App. 307, 320, n.4, 345 P.3d 36, review denied, 

184 Wn.2d 1008, 357 P.3d 666 (2015). Therein lies 

defense counsel's deficiency. Counsel did not request a 

limiting instruction for A.C.'s prior inconsistent statement, 

allowing the jury to consider it as substantive evidence 

against Colindres. 
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Every defendant is guaranteed the constitutional 

right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. 

Ed. 2d 674 (1984); U.S. Const. amend. VI. The right to 

counsel is violated where (1) counsel's performance was 

deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Deficient performance is that 

which falls below an objective standard of 

reasonableness. Id. at 688. 

The State needed to prove Colindres had sexual 

intercourse with N.C., which required the State to prove 

penetration. CP 80, 82. A.C.'s initial testimony about 

seeing Colindres moving on top of her sister fell short of 

establishing penetration. RP 719-22. This is why A.C.'s 

prior statement, which supported the element of 

penetration if considered for its truth, needed to be limited. 

The Court of Appeals agreed counsel was deficient: 

"because the prior statement addressed a factual issue 
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central to the outcome of the case, defense counsel 

should have requested a limiting instruction so that the 

jury did not consider the statements as substantive 

evidence of guilt. " Slip op. at 13-14. 

Yet the Court of Appeals held there was no 

prejudice because "A.C. 's testimony was not the only 

evidence of penetration. N. C. also testified that Colindres 

vaginally raped her. And N.C. 's physical examination 

showed evidence of penetration. Even if the jury relied on 

A. C. 's interview as substantive evidence of guilt, such 

evidence was cumulative. There was sufficient evidence 

without the interview statements for the jury to find the 

element of penetration beyond a reasonable doubt. " Slip 

op. at 14. This analysis is wayward. 

First, there was no evidence admitted at trial that 

N.C. had a physical examination, let alone an 

examination that showed evidence of penetration. It is 

known that Dr. Elizabeth Woods conducted an 
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examination of N.C. and reported that she had a 

"penetrating trauma to the hymen. " CP 165. Dr. Woods 

did not testify at trial, likely because she suffered from a 

crippling credibility problem, CP 164-66, and the State 

presented no evidence concerning this examination at 

trial. In affirming Colindres's conviction, the Court of 

Appeals improperly relied on evidence from an 

examination that was never presented to the jury. 

Second, A.C.'s testimony lent critical substantive 

corroboration to her sister's account of being raped by 

Colindres. Without that corroboration, the jury may have 

acquitted on count 1. It is reasonable to believe so, given 

that the jury acquitted Colindres on count 2 in the 

absence of corroborating testimony from A.C. on the 

dining room incident. 

Third, the Court of Appeals did not apply the correct 

legal standard. Prejudice is not a matter of sufficient 

evidence. In the context of an ineffective assistance claim, 
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prejudice results from a reasonable probability that the 

result would have been different but for counsel's 

performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. A reasonable 

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine 

confidence in the outcome. & Deficient performance can 

prejudice the outcome even though there is sufficient 

evidence to support the verdict. Colindres establishes 

prejudice from counsel's deficient performance. The Court 

of Appeals decision conflicts with the Strickland standard, 

warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

2. Prosecutorial misconduct violated 
Colindres's right to a fair trial and the court 
erred in failing to grant a mistrial due to 
that misconduct. 

"The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty 

secured by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the 

Washington State Constitution." In re Pers. Restraint of 

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) 
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(citing Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 

1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1976)). Prosecutorial misconduct 

can violate this right. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04; 

Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756, 765, 107 S. Ct. 3102, 97 L. 

Ed. 2d 618 (1987). 

Questions designed to embarrass, humiliate or 

degrade a witness are improper. In re Adoption of Doe, 

74 Wn.2d 396, 401, 444 P.2d 800 (1968); Glazer v. 

Adams, 64 Wn.2d 144,149,391 P.2d 195 (1964); ER 611. 

Also, prosecutors cannot "invite the jury to decide any 

case based on emotional appeals." State v. Gaff, 90 Wn. 

App. 834, 841, 954 P.2d 943 (1998). Improper appeals to 

passion or prejudice include those intended to incite 

feelings of fear, anger, or desire for revenge and that 

otherwise prevent calm and dispassionate appraisal of 

the evidence. State v. Elledge, 144 Wn.2d 62, 85, 26 P.3d 

271 (2001 ). 
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Charlene Caceres, the child's mother, testified for 

the defense. RP 1154. On direct examination, she 

testified that she had been raped by her uncle as a child, 

which was one reason why she spoke to her girls about 

inappropriate touching. RP 1215-16. She stayed in 

California when her girls went to live with their father in 

Washington. RP 1171. 

On cross examination, the prosecutor questioned 

Caceres about the rape she experienced as a child -

eliciting that she didn't tell anyone about it, she felt 

isolated, she was ashamed, it was a painful memory, and 

she could not understand how this could have happened 

to her as a child. RP 1265-67. 

The prosecutor also elicited Caceres's testimony 

that her brother watched the girls when they moved to 

Washington in 2018. RP 1268. The girls did not seem 

happy, but Caceres never arranged for them to come 

back to California, and she never even visited them in 
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Washington. RP 1269. The prosecutor then repeatedly 

asked her to confirm that she wasn't there to watch over 

the girls in the dining room and bedroom, culminating in 

the question "during that same time period, you were 

never there in the dining room when he put his penis into 

your daughter. " RP 1269-71. The court sustained the 

defense objection. RP 1271. The prosecutor then elicited 

that Caceres had previously said she would call the police 

if the girls told her they had been raped, even if raped by 

her own brother. RP 1271-72. 

Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, arguing the 

questions were inflammatory and designed to make 

Caceres cry. CP 59-68, 88-93; RP 1287-88. The court 

denied the motion. RP 1368-72. 

The Court of Appeals held the prosecutor committed 

no misconduct in questioning Caceres about being raped 

as a child because "[d]efense counsel introduced the 
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subject of Caceres's rape on direct examination." Slip op. 

at 6-7. That does not absolve what happened here. 

A defendant cannot "open the door" to prosecutorial 

misconduct because a prosecutor cannot disregard 

evidentiary limitations in responding and has an ethical 

obligation to honor constitutional concerns such as the 

right to a fair trial. State v. Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 297-

98, 183 P.3d 307 (2008); State v. Lang, 12 Wn. App. 2d 

481, 487, 458 P.3d 791 (2020). 

The prosecutor's questions about Caceres being 

raped as a child were inflammatory and carried zero 

relevance. Caceres's personal experience and feeling 

associated with being raped as a child did not make it 

more or less likely that Colindres raped N.C. years later. 

The defense raised the topic that Caceres told her 

daughters about inappropriate touching because of what 

happened to her as a child, but Caceres's particular 

emotional experiences of being raped elicited by the 
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prosecution on cross examination had no probative value 

for any material issue in the case. The questions were 

designed to draw a parallel between what happened to 

Caceres and what happened to her daughter, implicitly 

inviting jurors to ponder the devastating emotional effects 

on N.C. through the medium of her mother's testimony. 

The Court of Appeals did find the prosecutor 

committed misconduct in repeatedly asking Caceres about 

being out-of-state while Colindres assaulted N.C., 

observing "[t]he questions brought Caceres to tears and 

appear aimed at eliciting an emotional response from the 

jury." Slip op. at 7. The Court of Appeals held there was 

no prejudice and therefore the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in denying a mistrial, as "[t]he questions that 

the prosecutor asked of Caceres were centered around 

the alleged assault in the dining room and the fact that 

she was out of the state when it happened" and 

"Colindres was acquitted on that charge." Slip. 7-8. 
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That take on prejudice is too narrow. First, it is 

truncated because the Court of Appeals erroneously found 

no misconduct in asking Caceres about her own rape as a 

child - misconduct that affects both charged counts. 

Second, the prosecutor's questions were not limited 

to the dining room incident; they encompassed the 

bedroom incident on which the jury convicted. RP 1270-71. 

The prosecutor questioned Caceres about the bedroom 

incident immediately before asking the ultimate 

inflammatory question about not being there when the 

defendant put his penis in her daughter's vagina in the 

dining room. RP 1271. The prosecutor followed up by 

making the point that Caceres aligned herself with her 

brother in not calling the police after learning of the 

accusation. RP 1271-72. The prosecutor presented 

Caceres as a mother who failed her own child, inviting the 

jury's scorn for not protecting her child from her brother. 

This emotional appeal to the jury may have tipped the 
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scale in favor of conviction on one count that had more 

supporting evidence than the other count on which the 

jury acquitted. See State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664, 

585 P.2d 142 (1978) ("If we are unable to say from the 

record before us whether the petitioner would or would 

not have been convicted but for the comment, then we 

may not deem it harmless."). Colindres seeks review 

under RAP 13.4(b )(3). 

3. The prosecutor impermissibly commented 
on Colindres's exercise of his 
constitutionally protected right to prearrest 
silence. 

The prosecutor used Colindres's decision not to 

speak with police against him as substantive evidence of 

guilt. In closing argument, the prosecutor argued 

Colindres's denial of guilt should not be believed in part 

because "Mr. Colindres himself never called the cops 

even though he said they should have been called." RP 

1323. The court overruled counsel's "burden shifting" 
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objection after the court asked the prosecutor to repeat 

what she said. RP 1323. 

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee a 

criminal defendant the right to be free from self­

incrimination, including the right to silence. U.S. Const. 

amend. V; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. The right against self­

incrimination prohibits the State from using prearrest 

silence as substantive evidence of a defendant's guilt. 

State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 237, 922 P.2d 1285 

(1996); State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204, 217, 181 P.3d 1 

(2008). 

The prosecutor impermissibly commented on 

Colindres's right to prearrest silence in arguing to the jury 

that Colindres never called the cops. RP 1323. Consider 

State v Jones, where the defendant was accused of 

raping his niece. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 717, 230 

P.3d 576 (2010). The prosecutor improperly commented 

on the defendant's right to silence in arguing the 
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defendant fled to Texas and never called the police to try 

to clear up what happened with his niece. kl at 725. 

Those suspected of a crime have no obligation to speak 

to the police on their own accord and prosecutors cannot 

use the failure to speak to police against them at trial. 

There is no requirement that the defendant must 

specifically invoke the right to remain silent to enjoy it 

prior to arrest. Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 238. 

The Court of Appeals held Colindres failed to raise 

the issue below and could not raise the issue for the first 

time under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Slip op. at 8-12. 

Colindres adequately raised the issue below in 

objecting to "burden shifting." RP 1323. In context, 

counsel's objection conveyed that Colindres had no 

burden to come forward to speak with the police, which 

implicates the right to remain silent, or to explain why he 

remained silent. This accords with State v. Dixon, 150 Wn. 

App. 46, 52, 57-58, 207 P.3d 459 (2009), where the Court 
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of Appeals held the prosecutor's comment on silence 

"improperly shifted the burden of proof." 

Even if the objection was not specific enough, the 

issue is reviewable as a manifest constitutional error 

under RAP 2.5(a)(3). State v. Romero, 113 Wn. App. 779, 

786, 54 P.3d 1255 (2002); State v. Keene, 86 Wn. App. 

589, 592, 938 P.2d 839 (1997). 

The Court of appeals claimed the error was not of 

"constitutional dimension" because "the police were not 

involved" and "[t]o consider Colindres's choice not to call 

the police prearrest silence would be to stretch pre-arrest 

silence past its logical point, even before a report has 

been made to the police or the initiation of an 

investigation." Slip op. at 11. The Court of Appeals 

ignored Jones, where the prosecutor commented on 

silence before police were involved. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 

717. 
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Really what the Court of Appeals is saying is that 

there is no right to silence before police contact a suspect, 

and prosecutors are free to use an accused's failure to 

speak to police as substantive evidence of guilt. This 

conflicts with precedent. "When the State may later 

comment an accused did not speak up prior to an arrest, 

the accused effectively has lost the right to silence." 

Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 238. There are many reasons an 

innocent person may choose to remain silent instead of 

going to the police and telling their story, including 

awareness of being under no obligation to speak with 

police, natural caution that anything said might be used 

against him at trial, a belief that efforts at exoneration 

would be futile, and mistrust of law enforcement officials. 

Burke, 163 Wn.2d at 218-19. 

The Court of Appeals also held Colindres did not 

demonstrate "how the statement affected his rights at 

trial" because "[d]efense counsel, not the State, 
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introduced the fact that Colindres told Hernandez to call 

the police," "[t]he prosecution simply presented a different 

perspective on evidence already in the record," and the 

jury "could have easily made the connection that 

Colindres did not call the police." Slip op. at 11-12. 

Colindres did not call attention to the fact that he did 

not call the police, the prosecution did that. Whether the 

jury could have made the connection is irrelevant. The 

constitutional violation lives in the State's exploitation of a 

defendant's silence as evidence of guilt. Romero, 113 Wn. 

App. at 790-91 ("was the indirect comment exploited by 

the State during the course of the trial, including argument, 

in an apparent attempt to prejudice the defense offered by 

the defendant?"). 

This case came down to the credibility of 

Colindres's denial versus the credibility of N.C.'s 

allegation, and a sister who assumed something 

happened but did not actually see N.C. being raped. The 
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comment on Colindres's silence as indicative of guilt may 

have caused the jury to reject Colindres's denial. Review 

is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

In the Court of Appeals, Colindres argued Salinas v. 

Texas, 570 U.S. 178, 133 S. Ct. 2174, 186 L. Ed. 2d 376 

(2013) did not control to the contrary and even if there 

was no Fifth Amendment violation, article I, section 9 

provides greater protection against using prearrest 

silence as evidence of guilt. See Brief of Appellant at 52-

65. The Court of Appeals did not address these 

arguments. 

Salinas has no binding holding. A three-member 

plurality held a defendant questioned by police in a non­

custodial setting must expressly invoke the right against 

self-incrimination before it can be relied upon, and mere 

silence in response to police questioning is not enough to 

invoke the right. Salinas, 570 U.S. at 181, 185-86 (Alita, J., 

lead opinion). The lead opinion expressly did not reach 
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the question of "whether the prosecution may use a 

defendant's assertion of the privilege against self­

incrimination during a noncustodial police interview as 

part of its case in chief." & at 183. 

Salinas is also distinguishable. Unlike the suspect in 

Salinas, Colindres never had the opportunity to expressly 

invoke his right to silence before being contacted and 

interrogated by police. Yet the right to silence exists prior 

to being contacted by police. 

Even if Salinas were deemed to conclusively 

resolve the question under the Fifth Amendment, article I, 

section 9 should be deemed to provide greater protection 

in this area of the law. Colindres provided a Gunwall 1 

analysis in the Court of Appeals. Brief of Appellant at 93-

97. 

1 State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808 
(1986). 
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Gunwall factors one, two and three involving the 

constitutional texts, and state constitutional and common 

law history do not reveal a different purpose. State v. 

Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 59-60, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The 

fifth Gunwall factor, structural differences between the state 

and federal constitutions, always supports an independent 

state constitutional analysis. State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 

173, 180, 867 P.2d 593 (1994). 

The sixth factor - matters of particular state or local 

concern - supports independent and more protective state 

interpretation in the context presented here. The question 

is whether there is a need for national uniformity on the 

subject matter. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d at 62. Clearly there is 

not, given that the United States Supreme Court in Salinas, 

when given the opportunity to squarely resolve the 

question of whether prearrest silence can be used against 

the defendant, expressly declined to answer the question, 
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leaving the lack of national uniformity on this question 

intact. Salinas, 570 U.S. at 183. 

The fourth factor - preexisting state law - strongly 

supports independent interpretation of article I, section 9 

in the present context. Well before Salinas, Washington 

courts interpreted article I, section 9 to protect against a 

person's prearrest silence from being used against the 

person and did not require people to expressly invoke the 

privilege. See, �' Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 725; Burke, 163 

Wn.2d at 218; Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 235-36. 

The crux of the conflict between the Salinas plurality 

and preexisting Washington cases is the use of an 

ambiguous circumstance like silence as direct evidence of 

guilt. According to Salinas, this is no problem. But 

Washington cases forbid the use of prearrest silence in 

this way because it is impossible to conclude - and 

therefore improper for the prosecution to present 

evidence and argue - that the refusal to speak is more 
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consistent with guilt than innocence. Burke, 163 Wn.2d at 

219; Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 237-41. The Salinas plurality's 

unfortunate choice to allow baseless prosecutorial 

speculation to become competent evidence of guilt should 

be disavowed in Washington courts based on preexisting 

law. 

4. Cumulative error violated Colindres's due 
process right to a fair trial. 

Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant is 

entitled to a new trial when it is reasonably probable that 

errors, even though individually not reversible error, 

cumulatively produce an unfair trial by affecting the 

outcome. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 788-89, 684 P.2d 

668 (1984); Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922, 927 (9th Cir. 

2007); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. 

An accumulation of errors affected the outcome and 

produced an unfair trial in Colindres's case, including (1) 

deficient performance of counsel, E.1., supra; (2) 
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prosecutorial misconduct, E.2., supra; (3) comment on the 

right to silence, E.3., supra. The combined effect of the 

errors, some of which the Court of Appeals did not 

recognize as error, unfairly aided the prosecution's effort 

to obtain a conviction. The ineffective assistance resulted 

in critical substantive evidence being used against 

Colindres on the count that resulted in conviction. The 

inflammatory prosecutorial misconduct, in appealing to 

emotion, and the comment on Colindres' silence, in 

inviting the jury to use silence as evidence of guilt, 

created a synergistic prejudicial effect on the outcome. 

Colindres seeks review under RAP 13.4(b )(3). 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Colindres respectfully 

requests that this Court grant review. 
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D IVIS ION ONE  

U N PU BL ISHED OP IN ION 

SM ITH , C . J .  - Jose "Leo" Col i nd res was charged with two counts of rape 

of a ch i ld  in the fi rst deg ree . He was convicted on ly on the fi rst charge .  On 

appea l ,  Col i nd res contends that the tria l  cou rt erred by, ( 1 ) denying h is motion for 

m istria l  based on prosecutoria l  m iscond uct, (2) impos ing both a vict im pena lty 

assessment and DNA col lect ion fee ,  and (3) imposing commun ity custody 

cond itions that are not sufficiently re lated to h is offense . Col i nd res also asserts 

that h is counsel was ineffective for fa i l i ng to request a l im it ing instruct ion 

fo l lowing the use of impeachment evidence .  He argues that an in camera review 

is necessary to determ ine if the tr ial cou rt properly re leased a l l  d iscoverable 

mater ia l  to the defense, and fi na l ly ,  he asserts cumu lative error. F i nd i ng no error 

concern ing h is conviction ,  we affi rm but remand for the court to stri ke the victi m 

pena lty assessment, DNA co l lect ion fee ,  and commun ity custody cond itions .  

FACTS 

Charlene Caceres and Edwin Hernandez met and began dati ng when they 

were 1 9  and 1 6  years o ld , respective ly. They had fou r  ch i l d ren together :  two 
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daughters (N .C . ,  A.C.) ,  and two sons. N .C .  is the oldest of those children; A.C.  is 

the second oldest. Jose "Leo" Colindres is Caceres' brother and N .C. 's uncle. 

Caceres and Hernandez briefly married but separated only a few weeks 

later. Following the separation, Caceres moved to California with the children 

and Hernandez stayed in Washington to work. 

The living situation in California was crowded , and the four children shared 

one bed in their mother's room .  Hernandez visited frequently. Caceres 

eventually agreed that the chi ldren could live with Hernandez for the summer. 

Colindres volunteered to chaperone the children on a Greyhound bus from 

California to Washington. N .C .  was 1 O years old when she moved to her father's 

home in Auburn. A.C.  was eight years old.  

In  Hernandez's home, the children shared a room but each had their  own 

bed . The girls shared bunkbeds and the boys each had a toddler "car bed.'' 

Colindres slept on the couch. By the end of the summer, the children did not 

want to return to Californ ia. It was ultimately decided that they would stay with 

Hernandez in Washington .  Colindres volunteered to stay in Washington as wel l ,  

offering to babysit the children while Hernandez worked. Hernandez left for work 

early, leaving Colindres in charge of getting the children ready for school and 

picking them up in the afternoon. As a result, Colindres was alone with N .C .  for 

several hours most days. 

N .C .  testified that Colindres raped her four times while she lived in 

Washington. One incident occurred in her bedroom after Hernandez had left for 

work. She testified that Colindres woke her two younger brothers and moved 

2 
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them to a d ifferent room before shutting the door, pull ing N .C. 's pants down, and 

vaginally raping her. The motion roused A.C. ,  who complained about the noise 

before fa ll ing back to sleep. After the rape, Colindres brought the two boys back 

to bed . 

N .C .  recalled another assault that took place in the afternoon. N .C .  was 

alone with Colindres in the dining room while her siblings were upstairs. 

Colindres "made [N.C. ]  pul l down [her] pants" and played a video on his phone, 

depicting "something a fourth grader shouldn't see.'' N .C .  could not recall exactly 

what he showed her. Colindres then vaginally raped her. When he stopped, 

Colindres told N .C .  to dress herself and went to the bathroom .  

N .C . 's younger sister, A .C . ,  testified that Colindres entered their bedroom 

on several occasions and made the boys leave. She described one occasion 

where Colindres climbed into N .C. 's bunk. She observed that Colindres's 

clothing was "halfway on" and his body was "moving up and down . . .  on top of 

[N .C.] . '' 

In  October 201 8,  Hernandez's ex-girlfriend Kristina Nagle came over for 

dinner with her daughter, C.G.  C.G.  was treated "like another sister" by the 

family and was about two years older than N .C .  During this visit, A.C.  told C.G.  

about Colindres's abuse. C.G.  told her mother, who then told Hernandez. 

Hernandez spoke with his daughters in private , and N .C .  confirmed that 

Colindres had raped her. 

Hernandez confronted Colindres with N .C. 's allegations, at which point 

both N .C .  and Hernandez testified that Colindres began crying and said he "was 

3 
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sorry that it happened . "  Hernandez immed iate ly kicked Col i nd res out of the 

house and sent h im  back to Cal iforn ia the next day. Hernandez d id not i n it ia l ly 

report the abuse ,  concerned that CPS might remove the ch i l d ren , but contacted 

law enforcement severa l days later. Col i nd res was charged with two counts of 

fi rst deg ree rape of a ch i ld . 1 

Col i nd res testified at tria l .  He acknowledged taking care of the ch i l d ren 

but categoria l ly den ied any sexua l  abuse .  He a lso den ied apolog izi ng . He 

cla imed that he was shocked and angry at the accusation ;  he a lso stated that he 

repeated ly told Hernandez to ca l l  law enforcement if Hernandez rea l ly bel ieved 

N . C .  

Caceres also testified . She understood the rape a l legation but d id not 

know any specifics . During cross-exami nation , the prosecutor asked Caceres 

about her experience be ing raped as a ch i ld .  Caceres became vis ib ly upset at 

these questions .  The prosecutor also asked Caceres a number of questions 

about whether she was present wh i le Co l i nd res was babys itt ing , not ing her lack 

of presence in the Wash i ngton home. At the end of question ing , the p rosecutor 

stated that she was not there when Co l i nd res assau lted her daughter .  At that 

poi nt ,  Caceres began crying . 

The j u ry convicted Col i nd res on the fi rst count of rape of a ch i ld , but 

acqu itted him on the second . The court imposed a standard range indeterm inate 

1 The incident i n  the bed room was charged as count one .  The incident i n  
the d i n ing room was charged as  count two . At tria l , N . C .  also testified to a th i rd 
i ncident where Co l i nd res woke her up and i nstructed her to undress . She 
refused , and as pun ishment for d isobeyi ng , Col i nd res forced her to s leep on the 
floor. This was not separate ly charged . 

4 
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sentence of 1 20 months to l ife i n  p rison and l ifet ime commun ity custody. 

Col i nd res appeals .  

ANALYS I S  

Motion for M istria l  

Col i nd res contends that the prosecutor comm itted m isconduct by aski ng 

Caceres questions about be ing raped and that the tr ia l  cou rt erred i n  fa i l i ng to 

g rant a m istria l  based on that m isconduct .  We conclude that Col i nd res fa i ls to 

estab l ish that the prosecutor's conduct resu lted i n  prej ud ice and thus ,  that the 

court d id not err in denyi ng the m istria l . 

"The decis ion to deny a request for m istria l  based on a l leged prosecutorial 

m iscond uct l ies with i n  the sound d iscret ion of the tr ial cou rt ,  and it wi l l  not be 

d istu rbed absent an abuse of d iscretion . "  State v .  Russe l l ,  1 25 Wn .2d 24 , 86 , 

882 P .2d 747 ( 1 994) . A tr ial cou rt abuses its d iscret ion i n  denyi ng of a motion for 

m istria l  if " ' no  reasonable j udge wou ld have reached the same conclus ion . ' " 

State v. Emery, 1 74 Wn .2d 74 1 , 765 , 278 P . 3d 653 (20 1 2) ( i nternal quotat ion 

marks om itted) (quot ing State v .  Hopson ,  1 1 3 Wn .2d 273 , 284 , 778 P .2d 1 0 1 4  

( 1 989)) . A m istria l  is appropriate " 'on ly when the defendant has been so 

prejud iced that noth ing short of a new tria l  can i nsure that the defendant wi l l  be 

tried fa i rly. " State v .  Rod riguez ,  1 46 Wn .2d 260 , 269, 45 P . 3d 54 1 (2002) 

(quoti ng State v .  Mak, 1 05 Wn .2d 692 , 70 1 , 7 1 8 P .2d 407 ( 1 986) ) .  The tria l  cou rt 

is i n  the best posit ion to determ ine prejud ice .  State v .  Garcia ,  1 77 Wn . App .  769 ,  

777 , 3 1 3 P . 3d 422 (20 1 3) .  

Here ,  Col i nd res argues that prosecutoria l  m isconduct entit les h im to a 

5 
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m istria l . If a defendant objects to the conduct at tria l , to show prosecutor ia l  

m iscond uct he must estab l ish that the p rosecutor's cond uct was both improper 

and prejud ic ia l  in the context of the enti re record and the c i rcumstances at tria l . 

State v. Koe l ler ,  1 5  Wn . App .  2d 245 , 260 , 477 P . 3d 61 (2020) . Conduct is 

prejud ic ia l  if the defendant can show a substant ia l  l i ke l i hood that the error 

affected the j u ry verd ict .  State v. Mo l i na ,  1 6  Wn . App .  2d 908 , 968 , 485 P . 3d 963 

(202 1 ) . 

I n  genera l ,  " 'when a party opens up  a subject of i nqu i ry on d i rect or  cross­

examination , [they] contemplate[] that the ru les wi l l  perm it cross-examination or 

red i rect examination , as the case may be, with i n  the scope of the examination i n  

which the  subject matter was fi rst i ntrod uced . ' " State v .  Rushworth , 12  Wn . App .  

2d  466 , 473 , 458 P . 3d 1 1 92 (2020) (emphasis om itted) (quoti ng State v .  Gefe l ler ,  

76 Wn .2d 449 ,  455 , 458 P .2d 1 7  ( 1 969)) . Therefore , such question ing is 

appropriate behavior. Rushworth , 1 2  Wn . App .  2d at 473 . Conduct is not 

improper if a defendant cannot estab l ish that conduct is un reasonable or 

inappropriate . Koe l ler ,  1 5  Wn . App .  2d at  263 . I n  contrast, conduct is improper if 

it appeals to the pass ions or prejud ices of the j u ry ,  i ntend i ng to i ncite anger or  

des i re for revenge . State v .  E l ledge , 1 44 Wn .2d 62 , 85 ,  26 P . 3d 27 1 (200 1 ) .  

Col i nd res a l leges that the prosecutor comm itted m iscond uct by ( 1 ) aski ng 

Caceres a number of questions about her own assau lt as a ch i ld , and 

(2) repeated ly asking Caceres about be ing out-of-state wh i le Col i nd res assau lted 

N . C .  Col i nd res objected to both l i nes of question ing at tria l . 

The fi rst instance was not improper conduct. Defense counsel i ntroduced 

6 
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the subject of Caceres's rape on direct examination .  In an attempt to explain that 

N .C .  understood the mechanics of sex from her mother's explanation, rather than 

personal experience, defense counsel el icited testimony that Caceres taught the 

girls about inappropriate touching as a response to her own assault. Defense 

counsel finished his direct examination on that topic. On cross-examination ,  the 

State followed up with questions about how Caceres's experience with sexual 

assault was the reason she talked to the girls about what to do if anyone touched 

them inappropriate ly. Because defense counsel first asked Caceres about this 

topic, the prosecutor's questions were within the scope of the subject matter as 

introduced and these questions did not constitute improper conduct. 

As to the second instance, the conduct was improper and inappropriate, 

which the State concedes. The State acknowledges that the prosecutor's 

repeated questions about Caceres's absence were cumulative and unnecessarily 

provocative. The questions brought Caceres to tears and appear aimed at 

eliciting an emotional response from the jury. Because this l ine of questioning 

attempted to play on the passions and prejudices of the jury, it was inappropriate 

and constituted improper conduct. Colindres has established that the 

prosecutor's conduct was improper. 

Although the questioning was improper, Colindres fa ils to establish 

prejudice . The questions that the prosecutor asked of Caceres were centered 

around the alleged assault in the dining room and the fact that she was out of the 

state when it happened. Colindres was acquitted on that charge. And while he 

alleges prejudice, Colindres received a favorable verdict on that charge.  

7 
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Col i nd res cannot show that the outcome of the tr ial cou rt wou ld have been 

d ifferent absent the improper conduct .  

Because Col i nd res was not prej ud iced by the prosecutor's m isconduct ,  

the tria l  cou rt d id  not abuse its d iscret ion i n  denyi ng a m istria l . Apart from h is 

c la im of prosecutorial m iscond uct ,  Col i nd res does not provide any other basis to 

support the motion for m istria l . 

Comment on Pre-Arrest S i lence 

Col i nd res asserts that the prosecutor imperm issib ly commented on 

Col i nd res's exercise of h is constitutiona l ly protected rig ht to pre-arrest s i lence 

and used it as substantive evidence of h is  gu i lt .  As Col ind res fa i led to ra ise th is 

issue below, we decl ine to reach it . 

1 .  Waiver 

I n  genera l ,  we do  not cons ider issues ra ised for the fi rst t ime on appea l .  

RAP 2 . 5(a) . And i f  an object ion on one  specific g round is overru led a t  tria l , a 

party may not rest that object ion upon a new g round on appea l .  State v. Koepke , 

47 Wn . App .  897 , 9 1 1 ,  738 P .2d 295 ( 1 987) ; State v. Pappas , 1 95 Wash .  1 97 ,  

200-20 1 , 80 P . 2d  770 ( 1 938) . 

At tria l , Col i nd res objected to the prosecutor's statement that 

"Mr. Col i nd res h imself never ca l led the cops even though he said they shou ld 

have been ca l led" based on burden sh ift i ng . The court overru led Col i nd res's 

objection . On appea l ,  Col i nd res argues that th is same statement was a v io lat ion 

of h is F ifth Amendment rig ht to s i lence .  He asserts that "the object ion was meant 

to convey that Col i nd res has no bu rden to come forward to speak with the pol ice ,  

8 
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which imp l icates the rig ht to remain  s i lent . " Relyi ng on State v. Braham , 67 Wn . 

App .  930 , 935 , 84 1 P .2d 785 ( 1 992) , Col i nd res asserts that a c la im is p reserved 

for review if the specific g round for the object ion is apparent from the context . 

But Braham is d isti ngu ishab le .  

In  Braham , the defendant broad ly objected to testimony as i rre levant. 67 

Wn . App .  at 935 .  Then , on appeal , the defendant argued that the probative va lue 

of the evidence was outweighed by its unfa i rly prejud ic ia l  impact. .!.g. The cou rt 

held that the specific object ion argued on appeal cou ld be i nferred from the 

context of the broader object ion below. I d .  

I n  contrast, here ,  Col i nd res argues a d ifferent basis for the object ion on  

appeal than he  d id before the tria l  cou rt .  Before the tria l  cou rt ,  Co l i ndres 

objected based on burden sh ifti ng . On appea l ,  he contends the object ion 

referenced h is rig ht to remain  s i lent .  These are ent i rely d ifferent object ions .  The 

proh ib it ion on bu rden sh ift ing stems from the Fourteenth Amendment rather than 

the F ifth Amendment. In re Pers .  Restra int of G lasman n ,  1 75 Wn .2d 696,  7 1 3 ,  

286 P . 3d 673 (20 1 2) (sh ifti ng bu rden of proof to the defendant i s  improper under 

Fourteenth Amendment) ; Patterson v .  New York, 432 U . S .  1 97 , 2 1 5 , 97 S .  Ct. 

23 1 9 , 53 L .  Ed . 2d 28 1 , 97 S. Ct. 23 1 9 ( 1 977) ("sh ift ing of the burden of 

persuasion . . .  is imperm iss ib le under the Due Process Clause" of the 

Fourteenth Amendment) . The latter cannot be i nferred from the former .  

Because Co l indres ra ised a d ifferent object ion before the tria l  cou rt ,  he cannot 

now ra ise an alternative basis for the object ion on appea l .  

9 
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2 .  Man ifest Constitutional  Error 

I n  the a lternative , Col i nd res asserts that he may ra ise th is issue for the 

fi rst t ime on appeal because it is a man ifest constitutiona l  error. We d isag ree . 

" [M]an ifest errors affect ing a constitut ional  rig ht may be ra ised for the fi rst 

t ime on appea l . "  State v. A. M . ,  1 94 Wn .2d 33 ,  38 , 448 P . 3d 35 (20 1 6) ;  RAP 

2 . 5(a)(3) . To estab l ish man ifest constitutiona l  error ,  the defendant has the 

bu rden of showing that ( 1 ) the error was "tru ly of constitutiona l  d imens ion" and 

(2) the error was "man ifest . "  If correct ,  an error is of constitutiona l  d imension if " it 

imp l icates a constitutiona l  i nterest as compared to another form of tria l  error . "  

State v .  O 'Hara ,  1 67 Wn .2d 9 1 , 98 , 2 1 7  P . 3d 756 (2009) . We do not presume an  

a l leged error is o f  constitut ional  magn itude .  O 'Hara ,  1 67 Wn .2d a t  98 .  An  error 

is man ifest if there is a " 'p laus ib le showing by the [appe l lant] that the asserted 

error had practical and identifiab le consequences in the tria l  of the case . ' " A. M . ,  

1 94 Wn .2d at 38 (quoting O 'Hara ,  1 67 Wn .2d at 99) . A defendant may estab l ish 

that an error has practical and identifiable consequence at tria l  if otherwise 

i naccess ib le evidence is adm itted over the object ion of counse l .  A. M . ,  1 94 

Wn .2d at 39 .  

As to the fi rst prong , Col i nd res fa i ls  to show that the error was tru ly 

constitutiona l . Typ ical ly ,  a c la im that someone imperm iss ib ly commented on 

prearrest s i lence wou ld rise to a constitutiona l  leve l .  A. M . ,  1 94 Wn .2d at 39 ;  

State v .  Curtis , 1 1 0 Wn . App .  6 ,  1 1 ,  1 3 , 37 P . 3d 1 274 (2002) . "The rig ht aga inst 

self- incrim inat ion is l i bera l ly construed . "  State v. Easter, 1 30 Wn .2d 228 ,  236 , 

922 P .2d 1 285 ( 1 996) . It m ight take the form of refus ing to answer the pol ice pre 
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or  post-M i randa ,2  or  s imp ly not engag i ng prior to arrest. State v. Lewis , 1 30 

Wn .2d 700 ,  705 ,  927 P .2d 235 ( 1 996) ; Easter, 1 30 Wn .2d at 236 ;  A. M . ,  1 94 

Wn .2d at 39 .  And the rig ht aga inst self- i ncrim i nation is clearly of tru ly 

constitutiona l  d imension . 

I n  th is case , however, the po l ice were not i nvo lved . I n  fact , there was no 

i nvest igation unti l days later .  The conversat ion about cal l i ng the pol ice occu rred 

when Col i nd res was speaki ng with h is former brother- in- law, i n  response to N . C .  

and A. C . 's accusation .  To consider Col i nd res's choice not to ca l l  the pol ice pre­

arrest s i lence wou ld  be to stretch pre-arrest s i lence past its log ical  poi nt , even 

before a report has been made to the po l ice or the in it iat ion of an i nvest igation .  

We do not do so .  Because the statement does not imp l icate Col i nd res' s F ifth 

Amendment rig ht ,  the error is not one of tru ly constitut ional  d imension .  

Col i nd res also fa i ls  to  satisfy the second prong because he  does not 

demonstrate how the statement affected h is rig hts at tria l . Defense counse l ,  not 

the State , i ntrod uced the fact that Col i nd res to ld Hernandez to ca l l  the pol ice .  

Col i nd res h imself testified that " [he] to ld [Hernandez] to  ca l l  the cops more than 

once . '' Defense counsel revis ited the top ic a wh i le later, aski ng Col i nd res about 

denying the rape a l legations .  Col i nd res responded , " I  kept te l l i ng them to ca l l  the 

cops if that's what [Hernandez] bel ieved-cal l  the cops . "  In using th is statement 

as a measure of cred ib i l ity ,  defense counsel put at issue whether the statement 

supported a determ inat ion that Col i nd res was cred ib le .  The prosecution s imp ly 

2 Mi randa v. Arizona ,  384 U . S .  436 , 86 S .  Ct. 1 602 , 1 6  L .  Ed . 2d 694 
( 1 966) 
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presented a d ifferent perspective on evidence a l ready i n  the record . Here ,  the 

evidence was not otherwise i naccess ib le .  Defense counsel had a l ready 

presented evidence to the j u ry that Col i nd res had repeated ly told Hernandez to 

ca l l  the pol ice .  The j u ry also heard that law enforcement was not i nformed unt i l  

five days later, when Hernandez reported the i ncident .  The j u ry cou ld  have 

eas i ly made the connection that Col i nd res d id not ca l l  the pol ice .  Col i nd res 

cannot estab l ish that the prosecutor's pass ing reference to the idea that 

Col i nd res cou ld have ca l led the pol ice h imself had any practical and identifiab le 

consequence at tria l . Therefore , the prosecutor's comment d id not constitute 

man ifest constitut ional  error warranti ng review. 

I neffective Ass istance of Counsel 

Col i nd res argues that h is counsel was i neffective i n  fa i l i ng to request a 

l im it ing instruct ion fo l lowing the use of impeachment evidence .  We conclude that 

defense counsel was defic ient i n  fa i l i ng to request the instruction but that 

Col i nd res aga in  fa i led to demonstrate prejud ice .  

We review i neffective assistance of counsel c la ims de nova . State v .  

Estes , 1 88 Wn .2d 450 , 457 ,  395 P . 3d 1 045 (20 1 7) .  The S ixth Amendment to the 

U n ited States Constitution and art icle I ,  sect ion 22 of the Wash i ngton State 

Constitution guarantee the rig ht to effective ass istance of counse l .  Estes , 1 88 

Wn .2d at 457 . To preva i l  on an i neffective ass istance cla im ,  the defendant must 

estab l ish that ( 1 ) counsel 's performance was defic ient ,  and (2) that defic iency 

resu lted i n  prej ud ice .  State v. Kyl lo ,  1 66 Wn .2d 856 , 862 , 2 1 5 P . 3d 1 77 (2009) . 

Performance is deficient if it fa l ls  "below an objective standard of reasonableness 

1 2  



No .  84204-8- 1/1 3 

based on consideration of a l l  the c i rcumstances . "  State v. McFarland , 1 27 

Wn .2d 322 , 334-35 ,  899 P .2d 1 25 1  ( 1 995) . To show prejud ice ,  the appe l lant 

must show a " ' reasonable probab i l ity' " that but for the defic ient performance ,  the 

outcome of the p roceed i ngs wou ld have been d ifferent. State v .  Jones ,  1 83 

Wn .2d 327,  339 ,  352 P . 3d 776 (20 1 5) (quot ing Strickland v. Wash ington , 466 

U . S .  668 , 694 ,  1 04 S. Ct. 2052 , 80 L. Ed . 2d 674 ( 1 984) ) .  "The adm iss ion of 

evidence which is merely cumu lative is not prej ud ic ia l  error . "  State v .  Todd , 78 

Wn .2d 362 , 372 , 474 P .2d 542 ( 1 970) . There is a strong presumption that 

representat ion was effective . State v. Grier ,  1 7 1 Wn .2d 1 7 , 33 ,  246 P . 3d 1 260 

(20 1 1 ) . And " [w]hen counsel 's conduct can be characterized as leg itimate tria l  

strategy or tact ics ,  performance is not deficient . "  Kyl lo ,  1 66 Wn .2d at 863 .  

Col i nd res contends that counsel 's performance was deficient i n  fa i l i ng to 

request a l im it ing i nstruct ion after the prosecution used a prior i ncons istent 

statement to impeach A. C .  On d i rect exami nation , A. C .  testified that she had 

seen her uncle's body moving up  and down on N . C . ,  but noth ing more .  Before 

tria l , i n  an i nterview with a Ch i ld Forens ic I nvest igator, A. C .  vo iced that she had 

seen her uncle remove cloth ing and "do h is midd le part in [N . C . 's] butt . '' When 

asked about the earl ier i nterview at tria l , A .C .  cou ld  not remember what she had 

to ld the i nvest igator. As a resu lt ,  the prosecution i ntrod uced statements from the 

i nterview to impeach A. C .  by prior i ncons istent statement .  Defense counsel d id 

not request a cu rative instruction .  

Fai l i ng  to  request a l im iti ng instruct ion can be  a strateg ic decis ion . Here ,  

however, because the prior statement add ressed a factual issue centra l  to  the 
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outcome of the case , defense counsel shou ld have requested a l im it ing 

instruct ion so that the j u ry d id not consider the statements as substantive 

evidence of gu i lt .  Without a l im it ing instruction , the j u ry was free to use that 

statement as substantive evidence of gu i lt .  There was no leg itimate reason i n  

t h i s  case for defense counsel not to  request the instruction .  Counsel fe l l  below 

an objective standard of reasonableness . 

Although counsel 's performance was deficient , Col i nd res fa i ls  to 

demonstrate that defic iency caused p rej ud ice .  Col i nd res argues that the State 

re l ied on th is evidence to estab l ish penetration , a necessary e lement of the rape 

of a ch i ld  charge ,  and that other test imony was i nsufficient to meet this element .  

But A. C . 's test imony was not the on ly evidence of penetration .  N . C .  also testified 

that Col i nd res vag ina l ly raped her .  And N . C . 's phys ical examinat ion showed 

evidence of penetration . Even if the j u ry re l ied on A. C . 's i nterview as substantive 

evidence of gu i lt ,  such evidence was cumu lat ive . There was sufficient evidence 

without the i nterview statements for the j u ry to fi nd the element of penetrat ion 

beyond a reasonable doubt. As a resu lt , Col i nd res cannot estab l ish that the lack 

of l im it ing instruct ion affected the outcome of tria l . Col i nd res does not estab l ish 

prejud ice and therefore , counsel was not ineffective . 

Vict im Pena lty Assessment and DNA Fee 

Col i nd res contends that the victim penalty assessment (VPA) shou ld be 

stricken because he is i nd igent .  He also asserts that the DNA3 col lect ion fee 

shou ld be stricken .  We remand for the court to stri ke the VPA and DNA 

3 Deoxyribonucle ic acid . 
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co l lect ion fees from the judgment and sentence .  

I n  J u ly 2023 , the leg is latu re amended RCW 7 .68 .035 to  proh ibit the 

imposit ion of a vict im pena lty assessment if the cou rt fi nds a defendant i nd igent 

at the t ime of sentencing . The leg is latu re a lso e l im i nated DNA co l lection fees . 

Recently amended RCW 43.43 .  754 1 provides that the court sha l l  wa ive any DNA 

co l lect ion fee previously imposed upon a motion by the defendant. These 

amendments apply retroactive ly in this case because Col i nd res' s appeal was 

pend ing when the amendments took effect . State v. E l l i s ,  27 Wn . App .  2d 1 ,  1 5 , 

530 P . 3d 1 048 (2023) . 

Here ,  ne ither party d isputes that Col i nd res was i nd igent at sentencing4 

and that the VPA shou ld be stricken .  L ikewise, a lthough the statute techn ica l ly 

requ i res Col i nd res to move for the court to strike the DNA fee ,  ne ither party 

d isputes that the fee shou ld be stricken .  

We remand for the court to strike both the VPA and  the DNA co l lection 

fee .  

Commun ity Custody Provis ions for Drugs and  Alcohol  

Col i nd res asserts that the commun ity custody requ i rement that he be 

ava i lab le for d rug and a lcoho l  test ing at the request of h is commun ity correct ions 

officer (CCO) or treatment provider unconstitutiona l ly i nvades h is rig ht to privacy. 

H is convict ion d id not i nvo lve d rug or a lcohol  use . We remand to stri ke the 

commun ity custody cond itions about d rug and a lcohol  use .  

4 The tria l  cou rt d id not exp l icit ly make a fi nd i ng that Col i nd res was 
ind igent at sentencing , it on ly noted that it wou ld waive a l l  non -mandatory fees .  
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Constitutiona l  chal lenges to commun ity custody may be ra ised for the fi rst 

t ime on appea l .  State v. Reedy, 26 Wn . App .  2d 379,  395 , 527 P . 3d 1 56 ,  review 

den ied , 1 Wn . 3d 1 029 ,  534 P . 3d 798 (2023) . 

Genera l ly ,  sentencing courts may impose and enforce crime-related 

proh ib it ions and affi rmative conduct as a cond it ion of commun ity custody. State 

v. Mart inez P latero , 1 7  Wn . App .  2d 7 1 6 ,  725-26 , 487 P . 3d 9 1 0 (202 1 ) .  That 

said , there must be "a reasonable re lationsh ip between the cond it ion and the 

defendant's behavior . " Marti nez P latero , 1 7  Wn . App .  2d at 726 . 

Here ,  the State concedes that there was no evidence at tria l  that a lcohol  

or  d rug use contributed to Col i nd res's offense and therefore ,  that the commun ity 

custody cond itions re lated to d rug and a lcohol  use are unsupported . We remand 

for the court to stri ke the commun ity custody cond itions concern ing d rug and 

a lcoho l  use . 

In Camera Review 

Col i nd res contends that th is cou rt shou ld independently review documents 

that the tria l  cou rt den ied to compel  p roduct ion of to determ ine whether the cou rt 

appropriate ly barred h is access . Fol lowing an in camera review, we conclude 

that the tria l  cou rt appropriate ly den ied Col indres's  motion to compel  p rod uction . 

"A defendant is entit led to appe l late review of [an] in camera hearing . "  

State v .  Casa l ,  1 03 Wn .2d 8 1 2 ,  822-23 ,  699  P .2d 1 234 ( 1 985) . Therefore , we 

performed an in camera review. Fol lowing that review, we conc lude that the tria l  

cou rt appropriate ly den ied Col i nd res's mot ion to compel  p roduct ion and that he 

was not inappropriate ly barred from access ing the documents at issue .  
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" I t  is with i n  the tr ial cou rt's d iscret ion to deny a motion to compel  d iscovery 

and we wi l l  not d isrupt the ru l i ng  absent an abuse of d iscretion . "  State v .  

Johnson & Johnson , 27 Wn . App .  2d 646 , 2 1 2 ,  536 P . 3d 204 (2023) , review 

den ied , 2 Wn . 3d 1 0 1 9  (2024) . A tr ial cou rt abuses its d iscret ion if its decis ion is 

man ifestly un reasonable or exercised on untenable g rounds or for untenable 

reasons .  State v .  Lord , 1 6 1 Wn .2d 276 , 283-84 , 1 65 P . 3d 1 25 1  (2007) . 

Genera l ly ,  " [p]arties may obta in  d iscovery regard i ng any matter, not 

privi leged , which is re levant to the subject i nvolved i n  the pend ing action . "  

CR 26(b) ( 1 ) .  Evidence is re levant i f  i t  has "any tendency to make the existence 

of any fact that is of consequence to the determ inat ion of the act ion more 

probable or less probable than it wou ld be without the evidence . "  ER 40 1 . 

Evidence may be privi leged under both attorney-cl ient priv i lege and the work 

prod uct doctri ne .  Attorney-cl ient privi lege app l ies to commun ications and advice 

between an attorney and c l ient and extends to documents that conta in  privi leged 

commun ications .  Soter v .  Cowles Pub .  Co. , 1 62 Wn .2d 7 1 6 , 745 ,  1 74 P . 3d 60 

(2007) . S im i larly, the work prod uct doctri ne protects documents and tang ib le  

th ings prepared i n  anticipation of  l it igation or for tria l . CR 26(b) (4) . Work prod uct 

documents do not need to be prepared persona l ly by counse l ;  they are privi leged 

as long as they are prepared by or for the party in ant ic ipation of l it igation . 

Doehne v. EmpRes Healthcare Mgmt. , LLC , 1 90 Wn . App .  274 , 283-84 , 360 

P . 3d 34 (20 1 5) .  

Here ,  the tria l  cou rt fi rst concl uded that the documents at issue were not 

re levant, stati ng " [n ]o port ion of the documents reviewed by th is court appears to 
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perta i n  to the defendant's case or to h is a l leged victim . "  Th is was not an abuse 

of the tria l  cou rt's d iscretion .  As the documents do not add ress the defendant, 

the victim ,  or  any facts re lati ng to the case at hand , they do not serve to make 

the existence of any re lated fact more or less probab le .  

The tria l  cou rt a lso concl uded that the documents at  issue were protected 

both by attorney-cl ient privi lege and the work prod uct doctri ne .  The tria l  cou rt d id 

not abuse its d iscret ion i n  conclud ing  as such . The documents are privi leged 

under attorney-cl ient privi lege because they were p repared at the request of 

genera l  counsel to ass ist a hea lth care provider i n  determ in i ng potent ia l  

corporate l iab i l ity i n  an  un related case . The documents also constitute work 

prod uct because they were prepared , at the d i rect ion of counse l ,  in antici pat ion 

of l it igation . The fact that Col i nd res was not the i ntended opponent in that 

ant ic ipated l it igation does not mean that the documents are not work prod uct .  

The tria l  cou rt appropriate ly den ied Col i nd res's mot ion to compel 

p rod uct ion as the mater ia l was not re levant and was privi leged . Col i nd res was 

appropriate ly barred from access ing the documents at issue .  

Cumu lative Error 

Col i nd res lastly argues that, even if a s ing le error a lone is not enough to 

warrant reversa l ,  the comb ined effects of many errors den ied h im a fa i r  tr ial 

u nder the cumu lative error doctri ne .  We d isag ree . 

The cumu lative error doctri ne app l ies when "several tria l  errors that 

stand ing a lone may not be sufficient to j ustify reversal but when comb ined may 

deny a defendant a fa i r  tria l . "  State v. Gre iff, 1 4 1  Wn .2d 9 1 0 ,  929 ,  1 0  P . 3d 390 
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(2000) . "The test to determ ine whether cumu lative errors requ i re reversa l  of a 

defendant's convict ion is whether the tota l ity of the c i rcumstances substantia l ly 

prejud iced the defendant and den ied h im a fa i r  tria l . "  I n  re Pers .  Restra int of 

Cross , 1 80 Wn .2d 664 , 690 ,  327 P . 3d 660 (20 1 4) (abrogated on other grounds 

QY State v .  Gregory, 1 92 Wn .2d 1 , 427 P . 3d 62 1 (20 1 8)) . The defendant bears 

the bu rden of proving cumu lative error. In re Pers .  Restra int of Lord , 1 23 Wn .2d 

296 , 332 , 868 P .2d 835 ( 1 994) . 

Here ,  there are on ly two estab l ished tria l  errors .  The fi rst is the 

prosecutor's inappropriate behavior  in cross-exam in i ng Caceres . The second is 

defense counsel 's fa i l u re to request a l im iti ng instruction .  As d iscussed , neither 

error resu lted i n  prejud ice .  Because reversa l  u nder the cumu lative error doctri ne 

requ i res c i rcumstances that substantia l ly prejud iced the defendant and Co l i nd res 

has fa i led to show prejud ice ,  reversa l  is not warranted . 

We affi rm Col i nd res's convictions but remand for the court to stri ke the 

vict im pena lty assessment ,  DNA co l lect ion fee ,  and commun ity custody 

cond it ions .  

WE CONCUR:  
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